FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/4/2022 10:04 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/4/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100789-2

No. 377423-III
Filed in
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III,
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
to
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Judith Tulleners, Appellant (RESPONDENT ON PETITION)

v.

Andre Tulleners, Respondent/Cross-Appellant (PETITIONER FOR REVIEW)

ANDRE TULLENERS PETITION FOR REVIEW
To the State Supreme Court - RAP 13.4(b)

Craig Mason, WSBA#32962 Attorney for PETITIONER W. 1707 Broadway Spokane, WA 99201 509-443-3681 masonlawcraig@gmail.com

### A. IDENTITY OF PERSON MAKING MOTION

The Estate of Andre Tulleners ("Andre," hereinafter),
Respondent and Cross-Appellant, asks the Supreme Court of
Washington State to accept discretionary review of the court of
appeals decision designated in Part B of this decision.

### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

A copy of the February 1, 2022 Opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-22, and a copy of the March 8, 2022 denial of reconsideration is at page A-23.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Most of Appellant Judith Tulleners' issues on appeal were denied by Division III, except for Judith's allegation that Andre's lack of direct evidence to trace Andre's pre-marital retirement funds into later accounts necessarily transmuted a \$400,000 separate retirement account into community property so definitively that the trial court abused its discretion to make a *Nuss*-type distributional allocation of that account in favor of Andre.

Division III then articulated a new legal standard for receiving Nuss-type credit:

...the credit must be no more than the lowest value that can reasonably be found to have been brought into the marriage and preserved.

In re Marriage of Tulleners, No. 37742-3-III, 2022 WL 289826, at \*8 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022).

At trial, and on cross-appeal, Andre argued that the tracing standard had somehow evolved into only direct evidence being sufficient to trace assets, when common sense

and circumstantial evidence were sufficient to show that

Andre's assets were separate, as wealth has to come from

somewhere. Andre's decades of pre-marital work were that
somewhere from whence derived the wealth. Andre asked

Division III to uphold the original distribution.

**Issue No. 1:** Given that the case law and WPI 103 state that circumstantial evidence is not inferior to direct evidence, are lower courts erring to give weight only to direct evidence when tracing separate property?

Answer: Yes, trial courts – and Division III in this instance – are treating the characterization of community and separate property as if only direct evidence (and not circumstantial evidence) may be used to trace the origins of separate property for characterization purposes.

**NOTE on** *Wanatabe* as relates to *Tulleners*: The Tullener's court error is analogous to the legal misunderstanding recently corrected and clarified in *Matter of Marriage of Watanabe*, No. 100045-6, 2022 WL 868918, at \*3 (Wash. Mar. 24, 2022), in

that the Appellant in *Watanabe* sought to establish an overwhelming presumption in favor of community property.

The Washington State Supreme Court is being asked, here in Tulleners, to further correct an extreme pro-community property formalism that overwhelms the court's ability to rely upon circumstantial evidence to trace separate property.

**Issue No. 2:** Once circumstantial evidence for tracing separate property is given its proper weight, should the trial court's "just and equitable distribution" have been upheld in deference to the trial court, or on alternative grounds in the record?

Answer: Yes.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal began with a remand to the trial court from Judith Tullener's prior appeal, the Division III case, *In re Marriage of Tulleners*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 358, 368, 453 P.3d 996 (2019).

Division Three was very concise on the remand in 2019:

If a *Nuss*-type credit to Andre is a basis for the disproportionate award, Judith needs a finding on the amount of that credit; if a present value for Judith's separate property interest in her pension plan figures is a basis for the disproportionate award, she needs a finding on that imputed value as well. She is entitled to findings on those matters so that she can assign error if she believes they are not supported by the record. We need findings on those matters so that we can fairly consider her appeal.

We reverse the trial court's total dollar awards of community property to Andre and Judith and remand for the entry of additional findings in support of whatever award is made. The trial court will determine what further proceedings to conduct, if any, before entering additional findings.

Matter of Marriage of Tulleners, 11 Wash. App. 2d 358, 372–73, 453 P.3d 996, 1004 (2019) (Tulleners I.)

A *Nuss-type* credit is based in the commonsense idea that money had to come from "somewhere," and the court may disproportionately give such money to a party if circumstantial evidence points to a separate origin of the money.

As Division III explained:

Awarding Andre a disparate share of his retirement assets finds conceptual support in *In re Marriage of Nuss*, in which this court held that even "the origin of community property as one party's separate property

may ... be considered in appropriate cases as a reason for awarding all or a disparate share thereof to that party." 65 Wash. App. 334, 341, 828 P.2d 627 (1992).

Matter of Marriage of Tulleners, 11 Wash. App. 2d 358, 370, 453 P.3d 996, 1003 (2019).

After remand, the trial court identified the *Nuss*-type credit, and gave Judith all of her retirement (valued at \$187,000) and gave her another \$50,000 of the \$400,000 fund at issue. CP:46-50.

Judith then again appealed. CP:51-57. Andre cross-appealed in defense of the original distribution. CP:58-63.

Appeal: The parties agreed to simply have written submissions

Proceedings Used by the Trial Court Prior to This Second

and a hearing for argument, only, and to not have any further

trial testimony.

As was noted in the latest Division III Opinion, Judith did not object to the proceedings in the trial court, before or after things did not go her way, and she did not seek

reconsideration of the process once the findings were made in the trial court's order of 8/12/20.

### Nuss-type Findings: Trial Court Following the

"Instructions" of Tulleners I: In terms of "instructions" to the trial court on Nuss-type findings, first, Division III correctly made an "informed guess" about the commonsense inference of the trial court (emphasis added):

Our informed guess from the trial court's oral statements is that it was trying to divide the property equally after recognizing that Andre's commingled retirement assets <u>had a substantial separate property origin</u>, and after imputing to Judith an estimated value of her separate property interest in her pension. Both were legitimate considerations, as long as the values used by the court were supported by the evidence.

Matter of Marriage of Tulleners, 11 Wash. App. 2d 358, 370, 453 P.3d 996, 1003 (2019).

Division III felt more factual findings were necessary before the just and equitable distribution of the trial court could be upheld (italics in original; underlining added):

In this case, some *Nuss*-type credit to Andre for the value of the retirement assets he brought into the

marriage would be within the trial court's discretion. But when the reason for characterizing the property as community is because Andre did not trace his separate property interest, he cannot be rewarded for failing to trace. All credible evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to Judith, and reasonable inferences must support a finding that the value Andre brought into the marriage, to the extent that value was preserved during the marriage,<sup>3</sup> was at least if not more than the amount of credit given.

To be clear, Andre's retirement assets, because untraceably commingled, are conclusively presumed to be community property, as the trial court recognized. What is within the trial court's discretion is to make a disparate award of those assets to Andre if it is possible to determine a minimum value of those assets that was brought into the marriage and preserved.

Matter of Marriage of Tulleners, 11 Wash. App. 2d 358, 371,

453 P.3d 996, 1003 (2019), referencing Nuss v. Nuss, 65 Wash.

App. 334, 340, 828 P.2d 627, 630 (1992).

Footnote three adds:

Any losses or declines in value during the marriage must be taken into account.

Matter of Marriage of Tulleners, 11 Wash. App. 2d 358, 371,

453 P.3d 996, 1003 (2019) (at FN 3).

NOTE: The same rule would usually also be applied to gains of separate property as Division III applies to losses. See., e.g., *Elam v. Elam*, 97 Wash. 2d 811, 816, 650 P.2d 213, 216 (1982) ("Accordingly, we hold that any increase in the value of separate property is presumed to be separate property").

### Nuss-type Facts at Trial, and Drawn Upon and

Supplemented for the Order at Issue at CP:46-50: The trial court followed it's "instructions on remand" regarding *Nuss*-type property after the first appeal to make fresh findings on 8/12/20, at CP:46-50.

Andre Tulleners had a fixed benefit pension from his lifelong employer that he converted to a \$514k payout. Trial Exhibit R-139, *Williams 2006 Lump-sum Payout*, admitted at Trial VRP:247. See, e.g., Trial VRP:88 & 259 for Andre's rationale of a bird-in-the-hand versus a fixed-benefit pension.

Also, Andre had a Williams retirement 401(k) account, of which he received half in his 1997 divorce from his prior spouse. See Trial VRP:95, and *Andre's 5/9/97 Decree of* 

Dissolution is Trial Exhibit R-146, admitted at Trial VRP:101.

Andre's nearly \$197,500 in that account later sank in value to \$149,000, before rebounding. See Trial VRP: 258-59.

Judith's allegation that the value dropped near zero was found not credible by the trial court. See CP:48 for page 3 of the Order of 8/12/20 stating that Judith's position "strains credulity." Judge Harold Clarke's conclusion of law was -- after its Findings #9 and #10 -- that Andre's "[Andre's Nuss-type] credit is not less than \$378,000." CP:48

The trial court followed it's "instructions on remand" regarding *Nuss*-type property after the first appeal.

Second Appeal Division III Opinion (Tulleners II): The Second Division III opinion (in the appendix) increased the demand for direct evidence and ordered another remand:

We reverse the trial court's *Nuss*-type credit to Andre Tulleners due to insufficient findings as to the extent to which Andre's 401(k) plan preserved its value during marriage. We remand for Andre, and possibly Judith, to provide evidence of the lowest value of the 401(k) plan during marriage. In the event neither party provides evidence, the dissolution court should deny

Andre any *Nuss*-type credit. We also remand for a possible redistribution of the parties' assets.

In re Marriage of Tulleners, No. 37742-3-III, 2022 WL

289826, at \*9 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022).

The legal issue as formulated by Division III was:

One of the longest-standing principles of Washington community property law is that separate property retains its separate character following marriage as long as it can be clearly traced and identified. In re Estate of Witte, 21 Wn.2d 112, 125, 150 P.2d 595 (1944); In re Estate of Brown's, 124 Wash. 273, 214 P. 10 (1923). When assets in a single account cannot be apportioned to separate and community sources, the community property presumption will render the entire fund community property. In re Estate of Smith, 73 Wn.2d 629, 631, 440 P.2d 179 (1968); In re Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn. App. 860, 866-67, 855 P.2d 1210 (1993). The burden is on the spouse claiming separate funds to clearly and convincingly trace them to a separate source. In re Marriage of Chumbley, 150 Wn.2d 1, 6, 74 P.3d 129 (2003); In re Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn. App. 444, 448, 997 P.2d 447 (2000).

In re Marriage of Tulleners, No. 37742-3-III, 2022 WL

289826, at \*8 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022).

NOTE: "Clearly and convincingly" is type of burden of proof.

Direct and circumstantial are types of evidence.

### Division III Provided Even More Precise Direction in the Second Appeal:

Judith Tulleners requests that, if this court remands to the trial court, this reviewing court should direct the trial court to deny any *Nuss*-type credit. We would do so but for the dissolution court's letter to counsel that outlined the questions to be resolved on remand. The letter did not mention the need to identify this lowest reasonable value of the 401(k) account. Therefore, we grant, on remand, Andre one more chance to advocate for a defensibly conservative credit.

In re Marriage of Tulleners, No. 37742-3-III, 2022 WL

289826, at \*9 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022) (emphasis added).

Division III then sought, on its own, the value of
Williams Company stock, as "publicly-available historical price
information":

The "Publicly-available historical price information" cited by the court was referenced in Footnote One, which reads:

See, e.g., the 40-year stock price history for Williams Companies stock available at https://www.macrotrends.net/stocks/charts/WMB/williams/stock-price-history (See "Download Data").

In re Marriage of Tulleners, No. 37742-3-III, 2022 WL 289826, at \*9 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022) at FN 1.

Andre's Motion for Reconsideration: As was noted, above, Division III rejected most all of Judith's assignments of error, but put the matter of the Williams Companies stock at issue for distribution under *Nuss*-type considerations (underlining added; italics in the original):

To be consistent with this controlling authority, we held in our prior opinion that a *Nuss*-type credit could be given only if, viewing all credible evidence in the light most favorable to Judith, the value Andre brought into the marriage and *preserved*, through all losses and declines in value, is at least if not more than the credit allowed by the court. Stated differently, the credit must be no more than the lowest value that can reasonably be found to have been brought into the marriage and preserved. This most conservative approach to arriving at the credit is the only way to ensure that Andre is not rewarded for his failure to trace.

The evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Judith, is that the approximately \$187,500 value of Andre's share of the 401(k) at the time of his prior, May 1997 divorce declined in value to \$40,000 in the early 2000s, because of a crash in the price of the Williams Companies stock in which it was then invested. She contended that the value of the 401(k) account recovered largely because Andre maximized

community property contributions to the account thereafter.

Publicly-available historical price information supports Judith's testimony about the decline in the value of Williams Companies' stock. 1 For a 401(k) invested in Williams Companies stock to have declined from \$187,500 in May 1997 to \$40,000 would require that the stock decline to roughly 20 percent of its May 1997 value. According to historical price information, the value of Williams Companies stock did decline from its May 1997 value by that much and more during a roughly half year period in 2002 and 2003. It is incumbent on Andre to request a sufficiently conservative credit that the court can be assured it is not rewarding him for his failure to document the community property contributions to the 401(k) and its investment performance during the marriage. Failing that, no Nuss-type credit should be given.

In re Marriage of Tulleners, No. 37742-3-III, 2022 WL 289826, at \*8-9 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022).

Andre responded in his motion for reconsideration by noting that the stock had split (halving in value, but the shares owned doubling), from that same information provided by Division III in its footnote and opinion.

The gist of Andre's Motion for Reconsideration was:

The data relied upon by Division III in Footnote one shows a history of stock splits, including a 2 for 1 stock

split in November of 1997 that halved the price but doubled the quantity owned.

For example, the value just before the split was almost \$55.00 a share, and then after the split the value logically dropped, as indicated to \$27.50 per share, and then the values fluctuated until the end of 1998 between a low of \$25.00 and a high of \$36.00, ending 1998 at \$31-32.00 per share. At \$31 to \$32 a share, the Williams Stock had a substantial increase in total value from \$27.50 at the end of 1998.

In short, there was no substantial decline in value of the Williams stock. Instead, there had been 2 for 1 stock split in November of 1997, halving a \$55.00 share price to \$27.50 for double the shares at that ½ value, by Division III's own data source in Footnote 1.

Andre Tulleners, from his and Judith's trial testimony, was a saver, not a spender. He wanted a patrimony for his children, and he divorced Judith for wanting to spend too much money. See, e.g., VRP at 210, line 17, for Judith testifying Andre did not want to spend money. Judith acknowledges attending Gamblers Anonymous at VRP 212 after spending too much money on slot machines.

Andre denied that his stocks in this account (worth \$187,500 at his May 1997 divorce, before his November 1997 marriage to Judith) ever dropped to \$40,000. VRP 41, line 25 to VRP 42, line 5. There is no basis in evidence to believe other than Andre's representation.

Andre kept his Williams account separate through his retirement. VRP 48, lines 8 to 11. There was a later consolidation after Andre's retirement in May of 2006 into another asset. Id. and Trial Court's Memorandum Ruling at CP 86-91. At that time, by the Division III

data source, the value was around \$25 to \$23.00, not significantly below the November 1997 value.

Andre's Motion for Reconsideration at pp.3-5.

After denial of reconsideration, this Petition followed.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED UNDER RAP 13.4(b)

The Tulleners II decision conflicts with the law of circumstantial evidence, and with the recent push-back against hyper-formalism articulated by the State Supreme Court in *Matter of Marriage of Watanabe*, No. 100045-6, 2022 WL 868918 (Wash. Mar. 24, 2022). RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2).

These issues are also matters of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

### A. Circumstantial Evidence and Rational Inference

A *Nuss-type* credit is based in the commonsense idea that money had to come from "somewhere," and the *Nuss-type* credit has been judicially created precisely because the community property presumption has become so overwhelming

that it has distorted fact-finding to the point that many courts believe that only direct evidence can "trace" property.

Nuss-type credit is the commonsense equitable remedy where there is substantial circumstantial evidence of separate property, and yet the (presumably erroneous) hyper-formality of the current law precluded any other remedy but the Nuss-type credit.

It is very likely that the courts first moved to an extreme direct evidence requirement and to overly-strong presumption of community property, and then *Nuss* was the equitable carve out in reaction to hyper-formalism in the cases with circumstantial evidence of substantial separate property.

In other words, if the law – or trial court practice -- of characterization had not become so extreme in favor of direct evidence being required to show separate property, *Nuss* would not have emerged as a doctrine to avoid injustice when circumstantial evidence convinced the court that the funds at issue came from the spouse alleging separate property.

### B. Affirming the Trial Court

As a procedural matter, the standard of review is abuse of discretion, and the trial court can be affirmed on any basis in the record:

Additionally, we may affirm the trial court on any basis supported by the briefing and record below.

Huff v. Wyman, 184 Wash. 2d 643, 648, 361 P.3d 727, 730 (2015).

In Tulleners, Division III appeared eager to take the place of the trial judge, which this court stated in *Soltero v. Wimer* was not appropriate (italics in the original):

The Court of Appeals is correct that the trial court *could* have found that some portion of the increase in value was community-like property, rather than due to the "natural enhancement" of the separate property. *Cf. In re Marriage of Elam*, 97 Wash.2d 811, 814, 650 P.2d 213 (1982). However, while the trial judge could have, he did *not* find that the increase in value was community-like property. Instead, the trial judge specifically concluded that the increase in Wimer's estate was due to his separate, not community efforts.<sup>4</sup>

Soltero v. Wimer, 159 Wash. 2d 428, 434–35, 150 P.3d 552, 555–56 (2007), and Footnote Four read (italics in the original):

Ordinarily, the community would be entitled to the increase of value in property due to the *labor* of each member performed during the relationship, but not to the "natural increase" of the value of separate property. *See Connell*, 127 Wash.2d at 351–52, 898 P.2d 831; *In re Marriage of Lindemann*, 92 Wash.App. 64, 960 P.2d 966 (1998). At oral argument, Wimer's counsel contended that he had proved at trial that the increase in value in Wimer's estate was due to his separate efforts before the relationship began. That is consistent with, though not explicitly found in, the trial judge's written decision. While we base our conclusion on separate grounds, we accept for purposes of this opinion his characterization of the cause of the increase in value.

Soltero v. Wimer, 159 Wash. 2d 428, 435, 150 P.3d 552, 556 (2007)(FN 4).

C. Watanabe and the Rational Taming of the

Community Property Presumption – Limiting Skarbek and

Hurd

The State Supreme Court's recent Watanabe decision was a step in taming the hyper-formal community property

presumption that has been superseding common sense in Washington legal practice. This court said:

Watanabe argues that the *Borghi* court's rejection of the joint title gift presumption applies only to situations where one spouse owned separate property prior to marriage and then added the other spouse to the title. The main holding in *Borghi*, he contends, is that "the characterization of property is determined at the date it is acquired'." Suppl. Br. of Pet'r Daniel Watanabe at 5 (quoting *Borghi*, 167 Wash.2d at 484, 219 P.3d 932). Thus, Watanabe argues the trial court inappropriately extended *Borghi* to property acquired during marriage.

Watanabe urges that *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wash. App. 444, 997 P.2d 447 (2000), not *Borghi*, is the controlling precedent here. *Skarbek*, he claims, stands for the proposition that property purchased in the name of both parties during marriage, where separate property is used to assist in the purchase, permits the presumption that the transaction was intended as a gift.

In response, Pedersen points out that *Borghi* rejected prior case law, including *Skarbek*, which allowed a joint title gift presumption for separate property when the title is changed from the name of one spouse to both spouses. Pedersen argues the conflict between the joint title gift presumption and the separate property presumption that the *Borghi* court highlighted exists regardless of whether or not the property was acquired before or during marriage. We agree.

Skarbek cites directly to In re Marriage of Hurd, 69 Wash. App. 38, 51, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), overruled in part by Borghi, 167 Wash.2d at 482, 219 P.3d 932, to say that property acquired during marriage with

separate funds is a gift to the community. *Skarbek*, 100 Wash. App. at 446, 997 P.2d 447. But *Borghi* explicitly rejects *Hurd* to the extent that it endorses a joint title gift presumption.

*Matter of Marriage of Watanabe*, No. 100045-6, 2022 WL 868918, at \*3–4 (Wash. Mar. 24, 2022).

The decision in *Watanabe* is the same kind of move toward rational inference that Andre seeks here with his circumstantial evidence -- as well as his trial exhibits and testimony -- serving as a basis for affirming the trial court.

## D. Circumstantial Evidence and Reasonable Outcomes in Property Distributions

The Tulleners trial court characterized property and made a just and equitable distribution, which should only have been disturbed for a manifest abuse of discretion, which means that Division III would have to determine that no reasonable judge would have made this distribution. *In re Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wash. 2d 807, 809–10, 699 P.2d 214, 215 (1985) ("The

trial court's decision will be affirmed unless no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion").

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