FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/4/2022 3:13 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE MATTER OF THE MARRIAGE OF

JUDITH TULLENERS, Appellant Respondent on Petition

V.

ANDRE TULLENERS, Respondent/Cross-Appellant Petitioner for Review

> Supreme Court No. 100789-2 Court of Appeals No. 37742-III

JUDITH TULLENERS' MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID J. CROUSE
Attorney for Judith Tulleners
601 W. Main, Suite 1100
Spokane, WA. 99201
dcrouselaw@comcast.net
(509) 624-1380
WSBA #22978

STATUTES AND RULES RAP 13.4(b)
WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT CASES
Estate of Borghi, 167 Wn.2d 480 (2009)
WASHINGTON APPELLATE COURT CASES

ARGUMENT

This petition for discretionary review is very unusual given that the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals was, in essence, a review of whether the trial court on remand appropriately applied the directives of the Court of Appeals in the published case of <u>In re Marriage of Tulleners</u>, 11 Wn. App.2d 358 (2019). Andre Tulleners never sought review of that published opinion.

There are four factors under RAP 13.4(b) that the Washington Supreme Court should consider when determining whether a Petition for Review of the Supreme Court should be accepted or denied. These factors are: "1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or 3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial interest that should be determined Memorandum in Opposition - 3

by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). In essence, as there is no substantial constitutional argument present here, Mr. Tulleners has the burden of either establishing that Division III's unpublished opinion regarding the parties' maintenance modification in some way conflicts with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court or another Court of Appeals decision, or that it is of significant interest. *See* In re Coats, 173 Wn. 2d 123, 132 (2011).

The issue in this case is whether Andre Tulleners provided a sufficient tracing of the portion of his Williams Communications 401(k) that he claimed to be his separate property. There are no conflicts in the Division of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court regarding the holdings of this case as to tracing of separate property, commingling doctrine, and the law as applied. In fact, the Court of Appeals in its opinions has followed established precedent in every regard.

The only assertion that Mr. Tulleners could make for discretionary review is that it would be of significant interest.

Memorandum in Opposition - 4

However, this argument fails as well. It is well-established that aa asset is separate property if acquired before marriage, acquired during marriage by gift or inheritance, acquired during marriage with the traceable proceeds of separate property, or, in the case of earnings or accumulations, acquired during permanent separation. In re Marriage of White, 105 Wash. App. 545, 550 (2001). Separate property brought into the marriage will retain its separate character as long as it can be traced or identified. In re Marriage of Schwarz, 192 Wash. App. 180, 190 (2016). If community and separate funds are so commingled that they cannot be distinguished or apportioned, the entire amount is rendered community property. In re Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wash. App. 860, 866 (1993).

In fact, all of this law was directly cited to in the first decision of the Court of Appeals. See <u>In re Tulleners</u>, 11 Wash.App.2d 358, 369, 453 P.3d 996 (2019). This law is longstanding in Washington. See <u>In re Witt's Estate</u>, 21 Wn.2d 112 (1944), <u>Jacob v. Hoitt</u>, 119 Wash. 283 (1922), and <u>In re Memorandum in Opposition - 5</u>

Carmack's Estate, 133 Wash. 374 (1925) for identical holdings. The law as applied by the Court of Appeals is in full acord with this Court's rulings in Estate of Borghi, 167 Wm.2d 480 (2009) and the recent case of Marriage of Watanabe, No. 100045-6 (Supreme Court, March 2022).

The primary issue in this case is that Andre Tulleners failed to provide *any* tracing of his claimed separate property interest in the 401(k) at trial. As the Court of Appeals noted in the first appeal:

"The trial court's decision explaining its division of assets stated that Mr. Tulleners offered "no evidence ... as to the structure of [the] pension, such as the amounts or timing of the contributions by Mr. Tulleners' employer." Clerk's Papers at 87. Mr. Tulleners also offered "no documentation as to how and when contributions were made to [the 401(k)] account between May 1997 and May 2006 when he took the funds upon retirement." Id. at 87-88. Because there was no tracing done by Mr. Tulleners, the trial court characterized his IRAs and annuity as entirely community property." In re Tulleners, 11 Wash.App.2d 358, 362 (2019).

The evidence for this determination by the Court of Appeals, that Mr. Tulleners presented no evidence whatsoever of

any value or tracing, was replete from the trial. Prior to trial, Mr. Tulleners failed to provide discovery and a motion to compel was required. CP 1-14 from first appeal attached at Appendix A for second appeal brief. (The record from the first appeal was incorporated into the second appeal by order of the Commissioner of Court of Appeals, Division III.) The trial court had ordered Mr. Tulleners, pursuant to this motion to compel, to provide this discovery and entered sanctions against him. CP 1-14 at Appendix B for second appeal brief. It is worth noting from this CP 1-14 Appendix B order that Mr. Tulleners had not provided answers to interrogatories for 10 months and was faced with the potential sanction of not providing evidence at trial.

Mr. Tulleners' interrogatory answers were ultimately provided. They were admitted as P-52 at trial and were before the Court on the original appeal and second appeal. Since the trial record remains before the Court of Appeals for the second appeal, this Court can look at P-52, page 4, answer 4(d) where Memorandum in Opposition - 7

Mr. Tulleners mentions his Williams Co. account with no values noted. At page 15, question 17 (a), the Respondent merely refers to prior responses (which don't exist). At page 28, the separate property tracing begins and provides a notice and definitions. The questions relative to the financial accounts begin at page 30 question 47. As can be seen just at int. 47, no values are provided, Mr. Tulleners cannot recall dates, and he refers to int. answer 4(d), which provides no such information whatsoever.

These separate property questions continue through page 33. Mr. Tulleners' continual answer is "I have provided all documents that I could reasonably access." He provides no values whatsoever as to accounts exiting before separation. These answers do not remotely meet the requirement of this Court's Opinion on Appeals.

These entirely deficient answers and production were addressed during direct examination of Mr. Tulleners at trial.

(Again, the original trial transcript remains before the Court of Memorandum in Opposition - 8

Appeals for review per the Commissioner's ruling.) Inquiry into the relevant financial accounts during direct begins at RP 82, line 17. RP 83 begins the tracing of documents, showing that there is nothing provided which would provide values that were either brought into the marriage much less preserved through marriage. RP 84, line 2 shows that the available accounts statements were for a period 8 ½ years after marriage.

At RP 87, line 22, Mr. Tulleners indicates that he does not know how his pension plan was "figured out". The same answer is provided at RP 88, line 21.

As also noted by the Court of Appeals in its first published opinion, Mr. Tulleners does admit maxing his contributions during marriage and further admitted that it did decline in value because of problems with its investment in Williams Communication stock. See also RP, page 89. line 14-24. Further, Mr. Tulleners admitted at RP page 90, line 8 that he provided no documentation and that he made no request for documents he alleged were at the house. See <u>In re Tulleners</u>, 11 Memorandum in Opposition - 9

Wash.App.2d 358, 361-363 (2019).

At RP page 92, line 16, Mr. Tulleners admitted that he didn't know what portion of the financial account was community or separate. At RP page 93, line 22, he admitted that his Williams Investment Plan exhibit provides no values.

At RP page 103, line 23, I walked Mr. Tulleners through the trial court's compel order and then proceeded to tracing questions. At page 109, line 15, Mr. Tulleners admitted there is no tracing. RP page 100 shows a similar lack of any values provided.

Securities questions begin at RP page 113, line 5. Beginning at RP page 114, questions are asked as to any values. This can be seen through page 123. As can be seen, no values are provided. In fact, at RP page 123, line 21, it is established that there are no values before 2006 provided by Mr. Tulleners.

Similar questions continue through RP page 126 line 25 where Mr. Tulleners was asked if he even called Williams and asked for a statement. He admitted at RP page 127 line 5 that Memorandum in Opposition - 10

he made no effort to even call the company or make a request in writing. See also RP page 129, line 9. At RP page 130, line 15 it is established again that there are no documents provided that have any valuation information.

The examination over the complete lack of information continued through RP page 138. At RP page 138 line 12, I questioned Mr. Tulleners about the financial accounts. This continues through page 139, line 21 where he admitted that he has provided no answer.

If this Court looks at RP page 140, it will see a series of questions that document that no answer was provided in the interrogatories. At one point, Mr. Tulleners claimed that this lack of information was due to the fact that he could not make a phone call. See RP page 141, line 5. It cannot be argued that Mr. Tulleners provided any information before 2005.

It is very unusual that Mr. Tulleners raises any issue with regard to the opinion pf the Court of Appeals, whether the first published opinion or the second unpublished opinion currently Memorandum in Opposition - 11

-

before this Court on his petition for review. Despite the fact that he has utterly failed to trace his claimed separate interest, the Court of Appeals has now provided him with *two* chances to trace his claimed separate property and thus meet the *Nuss* standard articulated by this Court in its first published opinion.

In both the published and unpublished opinions, the Court of Appeals was clear and direct in its expectations on remand. The Court of Appeals discussed In re Marriage of Nuss, 65 Wn.App. 334, 341 (1992) in both opinions. In both opinions, the Court of Appeals found that the trial court provide on remand a Nuss-type credit in its discretion if credible information existed to support that valuation. However, the Court of Appeals appropriately noted that all inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to Judith Tulleners and that Mr. Tulleners could not be rewarded for failing to provide an appropriate tracing. There is nothing of significant interest in the Court of Appeals two rulings that a property tracing of separate property needs to occur before this Nuss-type credit can be given.

Memorandum in Opposition - 12

Conclusion

If a petition for discretionary review was to be appropriately filed, it would have been filed following the first published decision. The published decision was where the Court of Appeals engaged in its primary legal analysis. That decision was where the Court of Appeals directed the trial court to ascertain whether an appropriate tracing had been provided, and only if such tracing was provided, to then apply a Nuss-type credit.

The trial court failed to follow the directive of the Court of Appeals following the first remand. Thus, the Court of Appeals remanded the case for a second time via the instant unpublished opinion for entry of a decision in accord with its original published opinion. Why would the Estate of Andre Tulleners choose to seek discretionary review now?

The reason that a petition for discretionary review follows the second remand on an unpublished decision is purely one of delay. This appeal is being managed by the Estate of Memorandum in Opposition - 13

Andre Tulleners who passed away shortly after the conclusion of the original trial. Judith Tulleners, as shown by the record and the Court of Appeals' decisions is of advanced age, and medically fragile with a history of breast cancer and other serious medical concerns. Equities raised by Judith Tulleners, such as a request for a disproportionate award of the community property, become moot if she were to pass. Delay serves interests of the Estate. As is, the Estate has sufficient funds from the dissolution award (that were not appealed from) to outlast the efforts of Judith Tulleners to receive a fair sharing of the community estate. As is, six years have now passed form the original divorce filing date of 2016.

There are no conflicts as to the application of community property and separate property holdings. Such issues of tracing of separate property are not of significant interest given the litany of rulings on the subject and given that the Court of Appeals has strictly adhered to established precedent. If anything, the Court of Appeals has provided Mr. Tulleners with too many Memorandum in Opposition - 14

opportunities to provide a tracing that should have occurred din discovery and then at the first trial. Judith Tulleners respectfully requests that this Court decline the petition for discretionary

review.